A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove beyond a

reasonable doubt the appellant was guilty of attempted voyeurism. 

2. The court improperly denied the appellant's motion to dismiss the

attempted voyeurism charge due to insufficient evidence. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1 To convict the appellant of the crime of attempted voyeurism, 

the State was required to prove that he took a substantial step toward the

commission ofthe offense for the purpose of arousing or gratifying his sexual

desire. The prosecution argued that Mr. Oates committed attempted voyeurism, 

but no witness testified that he looked into S. J.V.' s bedroom window other

than a momentary glance, no witness testified that Mr. Oates saw S. J.V. inside

the house, and although a witness stated that Mr. Oates was near a fence behind

S. J.V.' s house, he remained fully dressed and there was no testimony that he

was sexually aroused. Where this testimony comprised the only evidence

that the crime was committed for the purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual

desire, was the evidence insufficient to support the conviction for attempted

voyeurism? Assignments of Error No. 1 and 2. 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history: 

By amended information filed January 8, 2014, the Clark County

Prosecutor charged appellant Joseph Oates with voyeurism, or alternatively

with attempted voyeurism. Clerk' s Papers ( CP) 16. 

Jury trial in the matter started March 10, 2014, the Honorable Robert

Lewis presiding. 

The court denied the defense' s " half time" motion to dismiss the

charges at the conclusion of the State' s case. 1Report ofProceedings (RP) at

145.
1

Neither exceptions nor objections were taken to the jury instructions

were taken by counsel for the defense. 2RP at 182. 

2. Trial testimony: 

At approximately 6: 30 a. m. on November 22, 2013, Joseph Oates

went outside his house in Washougal, Washington in order to smoke a

cigarette. RP at 73. He usually smoked while sitting in his car, but he stated

that he had seen a deer between his house and his neighbor Johannes Voogt' s

house, and that he followed the deer into the back yard of his own house. 

The record ofproceedings consists of two volumes: 

1RP— December 6, 2013, March 6, 2014, March 10, 2014, jury trial; and
2RP —March 11, 2014, jury trial, March 27, 2014, and April 21, 2014, sentencing. 
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IRP at 150, While in the backyard he sat in a chair and smoked cigarettes

while watching the deer. 1RP at 150. After approximately sixteen minutes he

stood up and noticed that there were lights on at the Voogt' s house, which is

separated from Mr. Oates' house by a fence. 1RP at 151, 152. Mr. Voogt

and Mr. Oates had been neighbors for approximately five years. They were

long term friends and they frequently socialized together. 1RP at 59, 167. 

Mr. Oates stated that he saw there was a light on in S. J.V.' s bedroom, 

but that he did not specifically look into the room as he walked along the

fence. IRP at 154. He stated that when he looked at her window, it was

just a glance" and he did not see anyone, including S. J. V., inside the house. 

1RP at 155. 

Mr. Oates stated that when he was walking back to his front door, he

encountered Mr. Voogt, who angrily asked Mr. Oates what he was " doing

sneaking around back here." 1RP at 156, 157. Mr. Oates stated that he was

outside to smoke a cigarette and to check the fence. IRP at 63, 67. Mr. 

Voogt testified that he did not see Mr. Oates looking into the house. 1RP at

71. 

Mr. Voogt testified that it was cold that morning and that he went

outside to start his vehicle to let it warm up before going to work. 1RP at 62. 

He stated that after starting his vehicle he walked around the side ofhis house
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and saw Mr. Oates come from the back corner of the property near the fence

that divides the two properties. 1RP at 62, 63 71. Mr. Oates was walking

on his side of the property when seen by Mr. Voogt. 1RP at 70. 

Mr. Voogt said that before he went outside to start his car, he woke up

his daughter S. J. V. so that she could get ready for school. 1RP at 61. S. J.V., 

who was in seventh grade at the time of trial, stated that on that morning she

got up and got dressed for school. 1RP at 80. Her bedroom has two

windows, but only one was covered with a curtain. 1RP at 90. 

After the incident, Mr. Voogt went to work and later made a report to

the police alleging that Mr. Oates was looking into his daughter' s window. 

1RP at 66, 100. Mr. Voogt called later that day and left a message with Mr. 

Oates' housemate that he had called the police and that Mr. Oates needed to

talk to them when they arrived. Mr. Voogt also talked with Mr. Oates and

told him that he needed to move that weekend and that Mr. Voogt was going

to kill him if he did not move. 1RP at 158. 

Mr. Oates' housemate said that after the incident, Mr. Oates said that

S, J. V.' s light was on and that " Joe caught me." 1RP at 121. 

Officer Frank Koutelieris ofthe Washougal Police Department went

to Mr. Oates' house on November 22 after Mr. Voogt made a report to law

enforcement. 1RP at 103. Officer Koutelieris stated that Mr. Oates was
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cooperative with him. 1RP at 103. He said that Mr. Oates showed him

where he was standing in his backyard. 1RP at 104 -06. He told him that he

was smoking in the backyard and saw that the light had turned on in S. J.V.' s

room, and that he was trying to look at her in her bedroom after her light

turned on. 1RP at 103, 115. 

3. Verdict and sentence: 

The jury found Mr. Oates guilty of attempted voyeurism, a gross

misdemeanor. CP 112. The court imposed 364 days in custody with 319

days suspended, with credit for 45 days served. CP 129. 

Timely notice of appeal was filed April 21, 2014. CP 139. This

appeal follows. 

D. ARGUMENT

L THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS

INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH THAT

APPELLANT ATTEMPTED TO COMMIT

VOYEURISM

a. The State must prove each element of the

crime beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The State charged Mr. Oates in the alternative with one count of

attempted voyeurism under RCW 9A.44. 115, alleging that he " knowingly

view[ed], photographed] or film[ed], S. J.V. without her knowledge and

5



consent, while she was in a place where she would have a reasonable

expectation of privacy." CP 16. RCW 9A,44. 115( 2) provides: 

A person commits the crime ofvoyeurism if, for the purpose

of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire ofany person, he
or she knowingly views, photographs, or films another
person, without that person's knowledge and consent, while

the person being viewed, photographed, or filmed is in a
place where he or she would have a reasonable expectation

of privacy. 

Therefore, RCW 9A.44. 115 requires the state to prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that: ( 1) Mr. Oates intentionally viewed S. J.V. in her bedroom

through the window; (2) that she was in a place where she had a reasonable

expectation ofprivacy; (3) the attempt at viewing her was committed for the

purpose of sexual gratification; and (4) he attempted to commit voyeurism by

taking a substantial step toward its commission. "[ C] onduct is not a substantial

step 'unless it is strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose."' State v. 

Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 451, 584 P.2d 382 ( 1978). 

Mr. Oates contends that the evidence was insufficient to establish that

he attempted to view S. J.V. Due process requires that the State prove every

fact necessary to constitute the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. 

Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 3; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 25 L. Ed. 

2d 368, 90 S. Ct. 1068 ( 1970); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 749, 927
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P.2d 1129 ( 1996). On a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court

must reverse a conviction when, after viewing the evidence in the light most

favorable to the prosecution, no rational trier of fact could have found all the

essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. 

Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 ( 1979); State v. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 ( 1980). 

b. The prosecution did not present sufficient evidence
to prove Mr. Oates attempted to commit the crime

for the purpose of arousing or gratifying his sexual
desire. 

Where the State charges a defendant with a crime requiring a finding of

sexual gratification, the State must prove both the defendant's " purpose" and

sexual gratification." State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 119 -20, 857 P.2d 270

1993). " Purpose" refers to the defendant' s mental state. Id. at 120. While an

inference of sexual gratification can often be made, the State must show some

extrinsic evidence more than mere touching, or as in this case, the mere

viewing of another. State v. Powell, 62 Wn.App, 914, 917, 816 P. 2d 86

1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 ( 1992). InPowell, Division Three of this

Court established that when attempting to create an inference of sexual

gratification, the State must show some extrinsic evidence more than mere

touching, or as in this case, the mere viewing. Id. at 917. In addition, the



additional extrinsic evidence must be sexual in nature; it cannot be additional

innocuous conduct. Id. at 917 -18. 

Here, the State failed to prove that Mr. Oates had taken a substantial

step toward viewing S. J.V. as alleged. Instead, in a light most favorable to

the State, the prosecution merely established that: ( 1) he walked along the fence

separating the two houses, and (2) looked briefly in S. J.V.' s window as he went

past. Under these circumstances, the State failed to show that Mr. Oates

succeeded in seeing S. J.V. in her bedroom or even made a substantial step

toward committing the crime, and ifhe did see her, the State failed to show that

she was in a state of undress; there was no testimony that he saw S. J.V. while

she was naked or dressing. 

Moreover, assuming arguendo that Mr. Oates had seen S. J.V., there

is no testimony that looking into the window was anything more than a

casual or cursory manner of very short duration. Therefore, any view of

S. J.V. would have been for no more than a brief moment. Such viewing is

too brief under the voyeurism statute. RCW 9A.44. 115( 1)( d). 

Finally, again assuming a briefviewing occurred, such could not have

been for the " purpose of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire of any person" 

RCW 9A.44. 115( 2)) because Mr. Oates was fully clothed and was doing
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nothing of a sexual manner. He was simply walking by the fence, there was no

mention ofhis hands being near his genitals or that he, otherwise appeared to be

sexually aroused. 

In short, the evidence was insufficient to establish that Mr. Oates

took a substantial step toward viewing S. J.V., and that even if he had

attempted to view S. J.V. there was no showing that it was for the purpose of

sexual gratification (RCW 9A.44. 115( 2)). 

c. Reversal is the appropriate remedy

In the absence ofevidence from which a rational trier of fact could find

beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Oates took a substantial step toward

viewing S. J.V. for the purpose of arousing or gratifying his sexual desire. 

Absent proof of every essential element, the conviction must be reversed and

the charge dismissed. State v. Hundley, 126 Wn.2d 418, 421 -22, 895 P. 2d 403

1995)._Since the State failed to present any additional extrinsic evidence ofa

sexual nature, there is insufficient evidence from which the jury could find

beyond a reasonable doubt that Ivlr. Oate's actions, without more, were a

substantial step taken for the purpose ofarousing or gratifying his sexual desire. 

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein, Mr. Oates respectfully
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requests that this Court reverse his conviction for attempted voyeurism and

dismiss the charge against him.