NO. 46156-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JOSEPH PAUL OATES, Appellant

---

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY  
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-02231-1

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK  
Prosecuting Attorney  
Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney  
1013 Franklin Street  
PO Box 5000  
Vancouver WA 98666-5000  
Telephone (360) 397-2261

##

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 22, 2013, twelve year-old S.J.V. was awoken by her father, Johannes Voogt, at about 6:00 in the morning. RP 59, 61, 78. She got dressed in her bedroom, by her closet, then ate breakfast and finished getting ready for school. RP 80. There are two windows in S.V.J.'s room. RP 80. Only one of the windows has a curtain on it because the curtain in the other window broke. RP 81. The existing curtain was sheer. RP 81. From her room, S.V.J. could see into her own backyard as well as part of her neighbor's (the defendant). RP 81. It took S.V.J. about five minutes to get dressed that morning, and there was a point at which she was unclothed. RP 83.

S.V.J.'s father was a close friend of the defendant, Joseph Oates. RP 59. They had been friends for about twenty years and next-door neighbors for about five or six years. RP 59. On a typical day, Mr. Voogt would get up at 6:00 a.m. and make sure his daughter was up and getting ready for school. RP 60-61. He typically leaves the house at 6:45 or 6:50 in the morning and takes S.V.J. with him. RP 61. On that morning of

November 22<sup>nd</sup>, Mr. Voogt got up and then woke S.V.J. up. RP 61. He then went out to start his truck because it was an unusually cold morning. RP 60-61. After starting his truck he went around the side of the house to smoke a cigarette. RP 62. He did this because his children did not know that he smokes. RP 62. While at the side of the house smoking, Mr. Voogt heard rustling in the leaves. RP 63. He looked over to find out the source of the noise and saw the defendant come from the back corner of the property with a hood pulled down over his head ducked down below the fence. RP 63. He was sneaking along the back corner of the yard, up against the fence. RP 63.

Evidently not realizing Mr. Voogt was there, the defendant got in close proximity to Mr. Voogt and Mr. Voogt said “Joe, what are you doing?” RP 63-64. The defendant looked at the ground and did not answer Mr. Voogt. RP 63. After repeating the question a few more times, the defendant told Mr. Voogt that he was out there to have a cigarette. RP 63-64. He also said “I was looking at the fence.” RP 64. The defendant then retrieved a cigarette from his front pocket. RP 63. Mr. Voogt stated “[I]t took me about two seconds to figure out with the lights on in the house what he was doing in the back corner.” RP 63. In response to the defendant’s claimed reasons for being there, Mr. Voogt said “Bullshit,” threw his cigarette on the ground and walked back into his house. RP 64.

He immediately checked to make sure S.J.V. was not in her room, and then told his wife about what happened. RP 65. Mr. Voogt later contacted the school resource officer at Camas High School, who instructed him to make a report with the Washougal Police Department. RP 66. On his way to the Washougal Police, Mr. Voogt tried to call the defendant but the defendant did not answer. RP 66. Mr. Voogt then called the defendant's roommate, who was a mutual friend, and the roommate answered. RP 67. Mr. Voogt asked the roommate, Robert Greene, to give the phone to the defendant. RP 67. Mr. Greene did so, and Mr. Voogt spoke to the defendant. RP 67. The defendant began to explain himself, saying that he was just out in the backyard to have a smoke and look at the fence. RP 67. Mr. Voogt responded angrily, and told the defendant that the police were coming to talk to him and he better be there to speak to them when they arrived. RP 67. Mr. Voogt testified that one can see very clearly into his daughter's room from the area where the defendant was standing. RP 74. Mr. Voogt said a six-foot tall person could easily see over the fence if you're standing right up next to it. RP 75-76. He also testified that some boards are damaged, and there's a split in the fence where one could see through. RP 76.

Officer Koutelieris of the Washougal Police Department investigated this case. RP 102. He arrived at the defendant's house and

asked the defendant if he knew why he (Koutelieris) was there. RP 102. The defendant replied, “Yes,” and said that his friend, Mr. Voogt, found him looking at S.J.V.’s bedroom window that morning while he was smoking. RP 102. The defendant was not, in fact, smoking when Mr. Voogt caught him. RP 69. Mr. Voogt testified that the defendant typically smoked in his car at the front of his house. RP 97. The defendant admitted that when he saw S.V.J.’s bedroom light turn on, he walked over to the back of the bushes to look. RP 103. He admitted that he was trying to look at the bedroom and began to think to himself, “What the fuck am I doing?” RP 103. Officer Koutelieris asked the defendant what he meant by that statement, and the defendant replied that he had been trying to get a look at S.J.V. while she was in her bedroom. RP 103. The defendant specifically told Koutelieris that he was trying to look inside S.J.V.’s bedroom. RP 115. The defendant was cooperative and took Officer Koutelieris to the place he was standing when he was trying to look at S.J.V. RP 103-05. The location is depicted in Exhibit 2, a photograph admitted for the jury’s consideration. RP 105. Exhibit 6, a photograph admitted for the jury’s consideration, showed the view inside S.J.V.’s bedroom. RP 108. S.J.V.’s curtainless window could be clearly seen from the defendant’s yard. RP 112-13.

Robert Green had been the defendant's roommate for about a year and a half at the time of this incident. RP 118. Mr. Green met the defendant through the Voogt's. RP 118. Mr. Green testified that the defendant typically smoked in the front seat of his car, while listening to the radio or on his phone. RP 120. He recalled Mr. Voogt calling that morning and asking to speak with the defendant. RP120. The defendant took the phone outside to speak with Mr. Voogt. RP 120. When the defendant returned, Mr. Green asked him what was going on. The defendant replied "I fucked up bad. S.J.V.'s light was on. Joe caught me." RP 121. The defendant was agitated after the call. RP 122.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to the charge of attempted voyeurism. RP 241, CP 112. This timely appeal followed. CP 139.

C. ARGUMENT

The defendant claims the evidence is insufficient to sustain his conviction for attempted voyeurism. He claims that the State failed to prove that he attempted to view S.J.V. in her bedroom while she changed for school for the purpose of gratifying his sexual desire.

The State is required under the Due Process Clause to prove all the necessary elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, § 1; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 362-65, 90 S. Ct



1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn.App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 893 (2006). When determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). If “any rational jury could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt”, the evidence is deemed sufficient. *Id.* An appellant challenging the sufficiency of evidence presented at a trial “admits the truth of the State’s evidence” and all reasonable inferences therefrom are drawn in favor of the State. *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). When examining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is just as reliable as direct evidence. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

“Criminal intent may be inferred from circumstantial evidence or from conduct, where the intent is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability.” *State v. Billups*, 62 Wn.App. 122, 126, 813 P.2d 149 (1991), citing *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 506, 664 P.2d 466 (1983) and *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The appellate court’s role does not include substituting its judgment for the jury’s by reweighing the credibility of witnesses or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). “It is not necessary that [we] could find the defendant guilty.

Rather, it is sufficient if a reasonable jury could come to this conclusion. "'  
*United States v. Enriquez-Estrada*, 999 F.2d 1358 (9th Cir. 1993),  
(quoting *United States v. Nicholson*, 677 F.2d 706, 708 (9th Cir. 1982)).

The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), citing *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). "The fact finder...is in the best position to evaluate conflicting evidence, witness credibility, and the weight to be assigned to the evidence." *State v. Olinger*, 130 Wn.App. 22, 26, 121 P.3d 724 (2005) (citations omitted).

A person commits the crime of voyeurism if, for the purpose of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire of any person, he or she knowingly views, photographs, or films: (a) Another person without that person's knowledge and consent while the person being viewed, photographed, or filmed is in a place where he or she would have a reasonable expectation of privacy; or (b) The intimate areas of another person without that person's knowledge and consent and under circumstances where the person has a reasonable expectation of privacy, whether in a public or private place. A person commits the crime of attempted voyeurism if he, with the intent to commit the crime of voyeurism, does any act which is a substantial step toward the commission of voyeurism. RCW 9A.28.020(1).

A substantial step is conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose and that is more than mere preparation. *State v. Johnson*, 173 Wn.2d 895, 899, 270 P.3d 591 (2012).

The defendant claims that the State failed to prove that when he attempted to surreptitiously view S.J.V. in her bedroom while she was changing for school, that he did so in an attempt to gratify his sexual desire. This is so, he claims, because he was fully clothed at the time he was caught trying to peep at twelve year-old S.J.V., and there was no evidence that he was doing anything of a sexual nature such as having his hands near his genitals or being sexually aroused. See Brief of Appellant at 8-9. Oates' argument is meritless.

As an initial matter, his reliance on *State v. Powell*, 62 Wn.App. 914, 917, 816 P.2d 86 (1992), is misplaced. In *Powell*, a child molestation case, the Court of Appeals was clearly concerned that the State had failed to prove anything beyond innocent or inadvertent touching of the clothed intimate areas of the victim. *Powell* does not stand for the proposition that in an attempted voyeurism case, a defendant must be found in a state of sexual arousal or performing a sex act in order for his admitted, purposeful attempt at peeping at a twelve year-old girl changing in her bedroom to be deemed for the purpose of sexual gratification.

Here, Oates seems to ignore that the conviction was for attempted, not completed, voyeurism. The State proved that the substantial step he took to view S.J.V. in her bedroom at six o'clock in the morning, when she changes for school and when it is dark outside (such that she cannot see outside, but someone outside can see in), was done for the purpose of his resultant sexual gratification. Stated another way, he attempted to peep at her in her bedroom when she was changing so that he would be able to, at the time of viewing, gratify his sexual desire. The evidence showing that Oates was attempting to view S.J.V. for the purpose of gratifying his sexual desire was overwhelming. He was sneaking to the area of his yard where he could view her through her uncovered window at a time when he knew she would be changing her clothes and when he believed he would not be detected. He had a hood over his head. He was not smoking, which was his excuse for being there after he was caught. Finally, he admitted that he tried to view S.J.V. in her bedroom, without her knowledge or consent, and that he got "caught." He told both Robert Green and the police that Mr. Voogt "caught" him trying to look at S.J.V. He was visibly rattled after getting off the phone with Mr. Voogt. He told Officer Koutelieris that he was trying to look at S.J.V. in her bedroom, and that he knew it was wrong because he thought "what the fuck am I doing?" The jury saw photographs showing his view into her room from where he

stood in the yard. The defendant admitted that when he saw S.V.J.'s light go on, he made his way over to where he could view her in her bedroom. When Mr. Voogt confronted him, he instantly realized what the defendant was doing by looking up toward S.J.V.'s room. There is no doubt about what the defendant was doing and why.

The defendant cites to *State v. Halstein*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 119-20, 857 P.2d 270 (1993), for the proposition that in order to prove a crime requiring a finding of sexual gratification, the State must prove both the defendant's "purpose" and "sexual gratification." Oates is mistaken. *Halstein* dealt with the proof required to show sexual *motivation*, not sexual gratification. *Id.* The *Halstein* Court observed that sexual gratification is "not an oblique concept." *Id.* In this case, again, the evidence that the defendant's purpose was to gratify his sexual desire was overwhelming.

Oates also claims that the State failed to prove he attempted to act with the purpose of gratifying his sexual desire because the State failed to show that he "succeeded" in looking into S.J.V.'s bedroom, and that even if he did, it was a fleeting look. See Brief of Appellant at 8. As to the former claim, the State was not required to show that the defendant succeeded in viewing S.J.V. It was required to show that he took a substantial step toward viewing S.J.V., and that such attempted viewing

was for the purpose of gratifying his sexual desire. Although it is true that Oates testified that he briefly glanced at S.J.V.'s window while he was outside to smoke a cigarette, the jury resolved that disputed fact against Oates. The evidence is sufficient to sustain Oates' conviction for attempted voyeurism.